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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Newport News Division

B o

Plaintiffs,
V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 4:14-cv-130
NEWPORT NEWS INDUSTRIAL
CORPORATION,

Defendant.

N S St . v i v s’

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

A Second Amended Complaint was filed in this Court on May 4, 2015 by thirty-eight
Plaintiffs against Defendant Newport News Industrial Corporation. (“NNI”). ECF No. 15. The
Second Amended Complaint asserts various claims of employment discrimination, retaliation,
and hostile work environment by welders, fitters, and laborers employed at or by NNI. NNI filed
separate Motions for Summary Judgment against thirty-seven Plaintiffs.' As the Court has noted
previously, this matter is not a class action suit under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23, but
rather each plaintiff has their own separate claim or claims. See ECF Nos. 59, 188 and 290. In
Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint, the Plaintiffs asserted various combinations of the
following seven counts against NNI: Hostile Work Environment in Violation of 42 U.S.C. §
1981 (Count I), ECF No. 15 at 99 1238-41, Disparate Treatment regarding pay, promotion,
overtime, and training based on Race, in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (Count II), id. at 9 1242-
45, Termination based on Race, in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (Count III), id. at 99 1246-50,

Retaliation in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (Count IV), id at 9] 1251-56, Gender

' On January 5, 2016, the parties stipulated to the dismissal of one Plaintiff. ECF No. 56.
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E. Count V: Title VII Gender Discrimination

-Zl'awford is the only Plaintiff to bring a gender discrimination claim under Title
VII. To do so, in the absence of direct evidence of discrimination she must demonstrate that she
(1) is a member of a protected class; (2) performed her job satisfactorily; (3) suffered an adverse
employment action; and (4) similarly situated employees outside her protected class were treated
differently. Goode v. Cent. Va. Legal Aid Soc’y, Inc., 807 F.3d 619, 626 (4th Cir. 2015). Like
with race discrimination claims, if she can meet her prima facie case, the burden shifts to NNI to
offer a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action. Lettieri v.
Equant, Inc., 478 F.3d 640, 646 (4th Cir. 2007). If NNI meets its burden of production,
Crawford can offer evidence that NNI's reasons are mere pretext. /d.
F. Count VI: Title VII Retaliation

In addition, Crawford is the only Plaintiff to bring a Title VII retaliation claim. In order
to prevail on her retaliation claim, Crawford must show she (1) engaged in protected activity; (2)
that resulted in NNI taking a materially adverse employment action against her; and (3) there is a
causal connection between the protected activity and the adverse employment action. Id. at 650.
Like with Crawford’s gender discrimination claim, if she can make her prima facie case, the
burden shifts to NNI to produce a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason, and if it can do that,
Crawford must show the reason is mere pretext. /d. at 650-51.
G. Count VII: FMLA Violation

Under the FMLA, employees are “entitled to a total of twelve workweeks' leave during
any twelve-month period because of a serious health condition that makes the employee[s]
unable to perform [their] job.” Wright v. Southwest Airlines, 319 Fed. Appx. 232, 233 (4th Cir.

2009). When an employee returns to work, “the employer may require such employee to transfer

10
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through their deposition testimony submitted in opposition to Defendant’s summary judgment
motions, have alleged facts tending to show discriminatory and abusive treatment of minority
workers at NNI by both supervisors and nonminority co-workers with the knowledge and/or
forbearance of supervisors. For instance, Plaintiffs proffered the following factual averments.’
1.-Alvarez

Alvarez was hired as a structural fitter October 2014. ECF No. 110, attach. 2. In 2014
and 2015, Supervisor Wayne Jackson would task Alvarez, who is Hispanic, with menial jobs
such as sweeping the floor and grinding while not requiring the same of white workers. Jackson
would refer to Alvarez as “boy,” deny him breaks, micromanage his work and that of other
minorities, but not do the same for white workers. Jackson would tolerate lackadaisical behavior
from white workers (“let them huddle up, talk, talk to each other, get on the phone, all that, go in
the computer room, sit there for a long time™) but keep a strict eye on minorities. When Alvarez
began to report to another supervisor in February 2015, Jackson would make unfounded
accusations about Alvarez to his new supervisor to get him in trouble.

Alvarez witnessed racist graffiti in the bathroom (“NNiggers get out”) and confederate
flags were displayed on automobiles and toolboxes of various workers. Alvarez complained
about discrimination to Superintendent Doug Todd. but he did nothing about it. ECF No. 202,
attach. 1, Ex. 1.

2. B

Jackson supervised Blow between 2010 and 2012. Jackson called him “stupid,” and

denied him breaks yet permitted white workers stand around, even fall asleep in front of him.

Blow was cursed at and called “a dumb ass n***#*” by Jay Adams, another employee, and when

7 As a preliminary matter, with the exception of Alvarez, all of the other plaintiffs are African American, or black.
See Answer, ECF No. 27 at 2 (admitting the pertinent Plaintiffs are African American). Alvarez testified in his
deposition that he is half Hispanic, half white. ECF No. 110, attach. 3 at 3-4.

13
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Blow complained about it to Wayne Jackson, he just laughed. Blow averred that Jackson made
racially inappropriate comments to him, such as referring to how Jackson’s grandfather “had lots
of black women.” Supervisor Jeff Rilee made mocking comments to Blow about the “black
people walk,” taunted him that “white welders were better than black welders,” and him that
“most black guys have the best drugs” so he asked Blow “to bring him an 8 ball of powder
cocaine™ and in exchange he would get Blow into a training class. Blow witnessed a noose hung
in the workplace, Confederate flags and stickers were prevalent on vehicles in the parking lot of
white workers. Blow made Scott Jones aware of some of the discriminatory behavior of others
but nothing was done about it. ECF No. 202 attach. 1, Ex. 3.

In April 2016, Blow found that someone had written “fuck you nigger” on the inside of
his unlocked tool box. ECF No. 212, attach. 1 at 41, 43, Exs. 424-25. An investigation
conducted by Defendant did not uncover who had written the comments. ECF No. 210, attach.
1, Ex 120
3‘-Chesson

Chesson worked as a welder at the Shipyard and was supervised by Jackson. Jackson
would condescendingly speak down to the black workers, “as if he needed to dumb down what
he was saying,” but not to the white workers. Jackson treated Chesson as if he was inferior.
Ruel Scott also supervised Chesson for a time, and treated him the same way, speaking in a
condescending fashion, calling him “dummy,” and ridiculed him in front of others. He was
denied the opportunity to get a forklift certification but he was told he would be put on a list, but
there never was any list and two white employees were given the opportunity instead. He also

saw Confederate flags regularly displayed on cars and clothing. ECF No. 202, attach. 1. Ex. 6.

4._Fields

14
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Fields worked at the Shipyard from June 2012 to August 2013 as a welder. He was
supervised by Jackson, who would follow him and other black workers around every day, but not
white workers. This included following Fields and others to the rest room, where he would wait
outside and then go in to hurry them along. He never did this to white workers. Jackson’s
behavior intimated Fields, because he saw how poorly Jackson treated black workers who got on
his bad side. Jackson would give different odd jobs such as picking up trash and grinding to
black workers that he would not give to white workers. Jackson ordered the black workers not to
wear clothing with President Obama’s picture on it, but white workers were permitted to display
Confederate flags on their vehicles, a tool box and clothing. He observed racist graffiti in the
bathroom more than once but supervisors never held a meeting to put a stop to it. Supervisor

Tom Jaffeux would commonly refer to black workers as “you people™ and single them out and
call them “brain dead.” ECI No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 12.
D -Kershaw

Kershaw worked as a laborer at the Shipyard. and during his tenure was supervised by
three white men, Jackson, Jaffeux, and Jeff Rilee. Jackson spoke in a disrespectful and
demeaning manner, including the use of profanity, that he did not use with white workers.
Jackson segregated Kershaw from white workers when assigning him work, and gave him less
important and menial jobs than he gave to white workers. Jackson followed Kershaw around,
even to the bathroom, which he did not do to white workers. Rilee mocked Kershaw on a daily
basis because of race, as “[h]e would turn his hat to the back, talk with a street slang, walk with a
bebop style attitude. He would say things in a street slang, ebonics style manner when he
communicated with [Kershaw], and he didn't do these things with other white people. [I]f he did

those things in front of other supervisors, they would -- they would really think it was funny, and

15
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they would laugh about it.” A white coworker shared a racist joke with Rilee in front of
Kershaw. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 20. Other employees and vendors made racist jokes or
comments and wore clothing with a racist depiction in Kershaw’s presence.® ECF No. 120.
attach. 3 at 65-70.
6. -Cross

Cross was a welder. Leary, a white supervisor, would closely monitor where the black
welders were working, and make sure they were always on task, but around the white welders he
would chat for fifteen to twenty minutes without them doing any work. Cross and the other
black workers were monitored so closely that they would be followed to the bathrooms and told
to get back to work, but white workers were permitted to leave their work space any time, go to
the break area, or take fifteen or twenty minute smoke breaks without complaint. A white
worker named Benny was permitted to wear a tee shirt with a racist depiction for three to four
months. Cross regularly saw confederate flags on vehicles, and heard a white employee make a
comment about lynching to a black worker. Racist graffiti on the bathroom wall was there when
he began his employment at the Shipyard and not removed until 2015. He and other black

workers were referred to as “boys™ and “you people.” ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 9.

7.-Valentine

Valentine was a welder who was often supervised by Jackson on an interim basis.
However, even when Jackson was not supervising Valentine, Jackson would routinely stop
Valentine and ask him what he was doing and whether he was working. Jackson followed him to

the bathroom several times, threatened his job and called him a gang member. Valentine

¥ A white employee wore a tee shirt captioned “Redneck Fishing™ which depicted a white man fishing by holding a
black man under water by his feet and legs.

16
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complained about Jackson to Superintendent Richard Talley. When Talley came around the
shop, he would stop black workers if they were standing in a group, but would not say anything
if it was a group of white workings standing around. Valentine has heard mocking comments
made to black workers, such as asking them if they were going to get fried chicken and
watermelon. Valentine also experienced a coworker—Tom Castle—make a racist joke in front
of him, and saw a white coworker wearing the tee shirt with the racist depiction, and another
with a hat with the Confederate flag. Valentine witnessed a noose hanging from a vent in 2015,
and still sees Confederate flags on vehicles in the parking lot. ECF No. 202, attach. 2, Ex. 33.
8. -Dantes

Dantes was a welder and supervised by Jackson and Mike Schultz. Jackson would be
very friendly with the white workers but not at all with Dantes. Schultz would follow Dantes to
the bathroom and time his bathroom breaks. Schultz would challenge Dantes about taking too
long almost every other day, but would never challenge the white workers. Schultz would
complain to Dantes that he was taking too long of a lunch break three or four times a week, but
would permit the white workers to take extended lunch breaks. He saw Confederate flags on
vehicles and clothing. White employees were permitted to sleep on the job, but he was
terminated for sleeping during his lunch break. ECF No. 202, attach 1. Ex. 10.
9, - Edouard

Edouard was a welder who worked under Tom Jaffeux. Jackson, who was not Edouard’s
direct supervisor, would pace around and harass him. Jeff Rilee would ridicule his dreadlocks,
call him a thug, and mimic racially stereotypical behavior where he would “grab his crotch and
... be walking like — like with his pants sagging or something like that.” White workers were

permitted to get coffee and take breaks while black workers were chastised to get back to work

17



Case 4:14-cv-00130-AWA-LRL Document 296 Filed 03/02/18 Page 18 of 58 PagelD# 23292

when they do so. Confederate flags were displayed on vehicles and caps of white welders. ECF
No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 11.
10.-Holliman

Holliman was a fitter who worked under Jackson and Jaffeux. Holliman and other black
workers were regularly threatened with their jobs, when white workers were not. Supervisors
would speak to him and other black workers derogatorily, but did not speak that way with white
workers. He and other black workers were regularly given menial jobs, like sweeping floors,
when white workers were not. Jaffeux referred to the black workers as “y’all people,” and called
them stupid. In safety meetings, he would dismiss the white workers and then chastise the black
workers. Jaffeux warned them against going to management with any complaints under threat of
termination. He observed a Confederate flag displayed on a worker’s vehicle. Jeff Rilee used to
mock black workers, and a white coworker would regularly tell racist jokes. ECF No. 202,
attach. 1, Ex. 16.
11. -Holloman

Holloman was a welder who was supervised by Steve Scheg and others. Scheg would
use the word “n****r” or “n***a” with him sometimes. Schag would make offensive comments
to him incorporating race, such as “Bring your black ass over here.” Schag hounded him out of
the bathroom on one occasion, but he did not treat white workers that way. Jackson, who
supervised Holloman for a brief period of time, would permit white workers to take breaks and
chat for as long as thirty to forty-five minutes, but if black workers stopped working to chat even
briefly, Jackson would intervene. If Holloman was talking to a white worker, Jackson would
leave him alone, but if two black workers were talking, Jackson would demand that they get back

to work. Holloman noticed Confederate flags in vehicles, in a locker or tool box and on the

18
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clothing of white workers, and one white worker in particular wore the racially offensive
“Redneck fishing” tee shirt. Holloman complained to Richard Talley about the discriminatory
conduct but nothing happened. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 15.

12-J0yner, Jr.

Joyner was a welder who worked for several supervisors, including Jeff Rilee, Tom
Jaffeax, Mike Schwartz and Wayne Jackson. He began working at NNI as a temporary
employee in 2002 and became permanent in 2004. Rilee would mock him by mimicking racially
stereotypical behavior. Rilee used the N-word daily, and called Joyner and other black workers
that word to their faces.” Joyner reported this behavior on the NNI “hotline” but nothing was
done about it. A white coworker who worked sometimes as a make-up supervisor would also
mock Joyner and other black workers by using racially offensive stereotypes. Joyner observed a
noose hanging from a work unit, and saw a picture of another noose that had been hung in the
workplace. He has seen racist graffiti on bathroom walls. He observed the “Redneck fishing™
tee shirt worn by a white worker and Confederate flags displayed on vehicles, tool boxes and
clothing. He and other black workers were harassed when they went to get coffee, but not white

workers. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 18.

13.- Nichols

Nichols was hired as a fitter at NNI but worked as a burner before training as a welder.
At some point he was supervised by Rilee. Rilee would routinely mock him by mimicking
racially stereotypical behavior (“he would try to pull his pants down and walk like a — a black

person, you know, what they call pimping ...”) and remarks (“you’re not going to get your wife

? After first testifying that he did not hear Jackson use any slur other than “stupid,” ECF No. 136, attach. 2 at 15-16,
Joyner subsequently testified he heard Jackson direct the N-word towards him once and towards other black workers
approximately once a week, id. at 74-75.

19
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to fix no collard greens and chicken and watermelon?”). Jackson denied Nichols the opportunity
for certain training in favor of a less experienced white employee, telling him “black people’s
brains is not developed enough to pass that.” Jackson said the same thing about why did not put
up black workers for supervisory positions. Nichols reported this to Scott Jones. At the same
time Jackson stopped Nichols and two other black workers who were taking a break, he
permitted a group of five white workers to congregate outside to look at a new motorcycle.
Jackson would check on black workers using the bathroom but never white workers. Nichols
observed the Confederate flag on clothing. Another white worker addressed Nichols daily as
“his favorite n***a”, which he reported to supervisor Purcell. Other whites also used racially
derogatory language in the workplace. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 22.

14. |V 2ddel, sr.

Waddell was a laborer and blaster who was supervised by Jaffeux, Doug McKercher, and
others, including Jackson when Waddell worked weekends. Jaffeux would refer to Waddell and
other black workers as “boy™ or “you boys.” When Waddell protested, Jaffeux laughed it off.'’
Jaffeux followed Waddell and other black workers into the restrooms at least once a week, and
would stand by the stand by the stalls or peek under them. McKercher would do the same thing.
A group of black workers and one white worker used to eat lunch in the conference room, but
McKercher one day told them they could not eat lunch in there anymore, yet permitted the lone

11

white worker to continue to do so. At a morning meeting Clem Stewart threatened to have

Waddell’s son fired if he saw him sleeping, yet seated next to Stewart was Ricky Penrod, a white

' Unfortunately, neither party included the full discussion of this circumstance in their submissions, providing to the
court instead only pieces. NNI filed pages 207 and 210-211 of Waddell, Sr.’s deposition, while Plaintiff provided
pages 208 and 212-215. It does not go unnoticed that each side only submitted that part of the testimony which
advantaged their side. Since the entire exchange on pages 207-215 is relevant to the supervisor’s potential
pejorative treatment of this Plaintiff, better and more fair practice would have been for the parties to have each
submitted the entire exchange.

" While NNI posits that it had good reasons for prohibiting lunch in the conference room yet nevertheless
permitting the white worker to remain, ECF No. 144 at 7-8, this merely creates a question of fact in dispute.

20
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worker, who was asleep. Waddell has seen Confederate flags on vehicles. ECF No. 202, attach.
2: Ex. 358
15.-walker

Walker was a laborer who was supervised by Jackson between September 2013 and
February 2014, and thereafter became a welder. Jackson would refer to him as “boy,” assign
him either menial jobs, like sweeping floors or painting, while not assigning the same jobs to
white workers, and order him to turn down his music but not do so to white workers. He would
task Walker with jobs by himself but permit white workers to work in groups. Walker
complained to Scott Jones that Jackson had assigned him to sweeping floors for two months
straight. Jackson would rush Walker back to work when he used the bathroom. Jackson
tolerated white workers using “the N-word,” and a white worker named Levi Clutz frequently
referred to Walker that way. Clutz sent Walker an extremely racist video,'? and would tell him
racist jokes. Supervisor McKercher banned black workers from eating lunch in a break room but
permitted a white worker to continue to do so. Walker has seen Confederate flags on the
vehicles and clothing of white workers. Walker saw a doctor for the stress he felt at work, and
was prescribed Trazodone. ECF No. 201, attach. 2, Ex. 36.
16. -Bostic

Bostic was a welder who was supervised by Jackson. From his first day of work in 2012
he observed Confederate flags on vehicles in the parking lot, and he and a group of other black
welders were referred to as “you people” by Tommy Hines, a white worker who was the gang
leader. Bostic reported Jay Adams, a white worker, to Jackson for calling him a “dumb ass

n***#” but Jackson laughed it off. After that, Adams repeatedly referred to Bostic as “boy.”

" The video showed a group of whites country line dancing and smiling to a song with extremely racist lyrics called
“N**#*r-Hatin® Me.”

21
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Bostic complained about this racial harassment to Scott Jones but it continued. Bostic heard
racist language on a daily basis from white workers. Bostic observed in the workplace a rope
tied into what looked like a hangman’s noose. Bostic, a diabetic, required breaks to monitor his
blood sugar and eat something if necessary to keep it under control. Jackson would follow him
around and harass him about his breaks, and after Bostic complained to Scott Jones and was
authorized to take what beaks he needed, Jackson continued to follow him around and bother
him. White workers were not bothered whenever they took breaks. ECF No. 201, attach. 1, Ex.
4.
 ly & - Broughton

Broughton was a welder who was supervised by Jackson. Every day, when groups of
black welders and white welders were working in the same area, Jackson would only confront
and correct the black workers, not the white workers. Jackson would refer to black workers as
“boy” and the white workers as “man.” When white and black workers would take smoke
breaks, Jackson would break up the black workers but allow the white workers to continue on
their breaks, sometimes for as ‘long as thirty to forty-five minutes. Jackson would confront black
workers on their use of the bathroom, but not do so to white workers. Broughton observed the
Confederate flag on many vehicles, clothing, and lockboxes. White workers regularly used the
word “n***a” and n****r.” He observed a white worker wearing the racist “Redneck fishing”
tee shirt. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 5.
18-30rd0n

Gordon was a welder who was supervised by Jackson and Ruel Scott. Jackson accused
Gordon of being a gang member because he signed his welds “Black Ice.” Black workers would

be disciplined for minor infractions while infractions committed by white workers would be

22
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swept under the rug. Gordon’s work would be nitpicked by Ruel Scott, but Scott would not
criticize the work of white welders. Gordon lodged a complaint against a white worker named
Slacker' for shoving him from behind, but despite the fact that an independent eyewitness
corroborated the confrontation, nothing happened to Slacker. Gordon was aware of the
complaint against Slacker where he climbed a ladder with a rope shaped into a noose and taunted
a black worker, but nothing happened to Slacker. Gordon observed the Confederate flag on
vehicles in the parking lot, and also on a hat worn by Slacker. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 13.
19-Payt0n

Payton was hired as a laborer in late 2013, and began being supervised by Mike, a white
male. Payton started at or about the same time as two white workers and they were all assigned
to sweeping and inspecting welds, however Payton was assigned a larger area to sweep and more
welds to inspect than the white workers. After Payton had been at NNI for a month or month
and a half, Mike promised to get back to Payton about submitting paperwork to obtain welding
training, but he did not do so and instead assisted Joey Gibson, a white worker who had started
employment two weeks after Payton whose prior experience was as a cook. At one point Payton
was supervised by Brad Penny, who often referred to him as “boy’ or “you people™ if he was
with other black workers. Penny would refer to a group of white workers as “guys.” Penny
would stand by the bathroom time the black workers on going to the bathroom but not the white
workers. Payton was then supervised by Donald Harwick. Harwick used the term “n****r™ in
his conversations with Payton and others. When challenged for using that word the first time in
Payton’s presence, Harwick responded “It’s cool. It’s a term. It's a word” and did not back
down. Although another employee complained to management about it, Harwick confirmed that

no one spoke with him about it. Later, Harwick formed a piece of rope into a noose and

' Apparently the employee’s correct name is “Slack.”

o
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displayed it to Payton, laughing. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 23.
20.- Smith

Smith was a welder and was supervised for a time by Jackson. He made several reports
to the NNI hotline complaining of abusive behavior by supervisors, including one conversation
between two white supervisors referring to another black worker as a “m**#%y Pk piiisp >
Smith observed racial epithets written in the bathroom that were eventually painted over. He
also observed white workers, including supervisor Penny, wearing clothing with Confederate
symbols and displaying Confederate flags on their vehicles. ECF No. 202, attach. 2, Ex. 28.
21.-5wain

Swain was a welder who was supervised by Jackson when working overtime and on other
occasions. Jackson would constantly look over the shoulder of black workers watching what
they were doing and questioning them about what they were doing, but he never did so with
white workers. This scrutiny included black workers who were not part of Jackson’s crew.
Jackson liked to refer to himself as “General Jackson,” after the Civil War General Stonewall
Jackson. He would follow Swain into the bathroom, sometimes peeking into the stall,
demanding to know if Swain was sleeping. Confederate flags were displayed on vehicles, skull
caps, and lunch boxes. Swain observed a rope hanging from a beam that had been braided into a
noose, and he was in a group that reported it on the hotline. Swain also observed the racist video
that had been sent by a white worker to Brandon Walker. ECF No. 202, attach. 2, Ex. 32.
22. -Wilz

Wilz was a welder who began working at NNI in January 2014. When Doug Todd, a
white night superintendent took over, Wiltz was at his work station with several white coworkers

who were all waiting for a quality control inspection. While Todd ignored the white workers
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being idle, he demanded Wiltz “act like you are doing something.” Similarly, when a group of
black and white workers were outside while a crane was being moved, Todd cursed and hollered
and demanded the black workers get back to work, but did not say anything to the white workers.
In the shop Todd acted like an “overseer” — “he loitered over the black people to make sure they
stayed to work and did not do that to white workers.” Wiltz observed a noose from one of the air
breathers, and was told it had been hung by Doug Harwick, his white supervisor. Wiltz had seen
Harwick with the rope earlier in the day. Wiltz observed Confederate flags on vehicles,
toolboxes, shirts, and a welding shield. ECF No. 202, attach. 2, Ex. 37
23-Barnett

Barnett was a welder primarily supervised by Tommy Hines and Jeff Rilee, but
occasionally by Wayne Jackson. Hines would threaten Barnett’s job on a daily basis, but did not
do so to white workers; instead, he would laugh with them. Hines would “com[e] around the
corner, run[] up on the job like he [was] trying to catch [Barnett] doing something.” But Barnett
did not ever see Hines do this to white workers. Barnett observed Confederate flags on vehicles
and hats. Barnett was supervised by Rilee after Hines. Rilee would regularly talk about and
stereotype black people as a whole with comments such as “why y’all black people got knotty
hair,” “why y’all black people ... got to get that cheap Boone Farm wine.” Rile would tell racist
jokes, and mock black workers by mimicking racial stereotypes and using offensive and racist
language. When Barnett objected, Rilee did not take the objection seriously. Barnett tried to
talk to Mike Lynn, a production manager, several times about Rilee’s comments, but was always
told Lynn was too busy to see him. Barnett did not seek out other supervisory personnel to

complain to because he had seen how Jackson had gotten so many people fired and therefore was

intimidated. ECF No. 202, attach. 1. Ex. 2.
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24, -Srawford

Crawford was a welder who worked under supervisors Jackson and Rilee. At one point
she suffered a work-related injury to her shoulder and was tasked with other jobs, including desk
work, handing out tools, and sweeping. Jackson would constantly follow her and watch her
work as if he was a warden, and at one point ordered her to sweep the floor using a paintbrush.
At one point Jackson told her he was going to “have a little fun® with a male welder who was
going to be trained by Crawford by telling him “you learning how to weld from a bitch.” Rilee
commented to her once “that’s some African-built shit” regarding some work she had done.
Crawford complained about both comments to the vice-president of the company who said he
would take care of it."* Rilee would mock black workers by mimicking racial stereotypes.
When Crawford objected, Rilee did not take the objection seriously. For a period of time,
Crawford worked in a facility called the Swiss Log building. That facility did not have a
women’s bathroom, necessitating Crawford either using the bathroom in the main building
across the street, or use the men’s room in the Swiss Log building while asking a male employee
to stand guard at the door. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 8. Crawford witnessed Confederate flags
displayed daily on vehicles, tee shirts and other items. ECF No. 202, attach. 2, Ex. 40.

25. ..Harris

Harris was a welder with Steel America, a company NNI contracted with to provide
certain services, and he worked at NNI during the relevant time for SA. Harris had been eating
lunch in a conference with other black SA employees for months when white supervisor Doug
Kercher told them they were not allowed to eat in that room anymore, however a white worker

was permitted to remain. On one occasion Harris observed a noose hanging in the workplace.

" According to Jackson, NNI Vice President Napiecek spoke to Jackson about Crawford’s complaint, but Jackson
was not counseled or disciplined and suffered no adverse consequences. ECF No. 203, attach. 1, Ex. 58 at 137-38.
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He has seen the N-word and “go back to Africa™ written in the bathroom stalls. White co-
workers have displayed the Confederate flag and listened to music with racist lyrics. ECF No.
202, attach. 1, Ex. 14.
26.-H00ker

Hooker was a welder who supervised for a time by Jackson and others. Jackson was
aggressive towards black workers, standing over them while they worked and admonishing them
to hurry up, but he did not do this to white workers. When a black worker and a white worker
both had welds rejected during inspection, Hooker witnessed Jackson repeatedly criticize the
black worker over a period of three weeks, but not the white worker, eventually assigning the
black worker to sweep the floors while permitting the white worker to continue to weld. White
coworkers referred to Hooker and other black workers on his crew as a “brown posse,” and
Hooker has heard white workers use the “N-word” two or three times. He has been called a
“black ass bitch” by a white worker, and white coworkers such as Stan Maddox and Levi Clutz
have told racially offensive and racist jokes to him. Hooker observed Confederate flags on
vehicles in the parking lot and on metal buckets in the shop. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 17.
Hooker observed racist graffiti in the bathroom that read “Nelson Farrar is a lying nigger” and
reported it to NNI. ECF No. 202, attach. 2, Ex. 38.
27. . Pierce

Pierce was a laborer hired in February 2014 as temporary, converted to regular, full-time
shortly thereafter, and was terminated from employment in December 2014. ECF No. 174, SOF
Nos. 4, 7, 19. Pierce observed white workers return to lunch late on several occasions between
October and December 2014 without consequence, but he was reprimanded for doing so. Pierce

was called “boy” by a white worker in front of a white supervisor, who did nothing to correct or
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reprimand the white worker, and by a white make-up supervisor. Confederate flags were
displayed on vehicles, shirts and toolboxes. Two white workers were permitted to use their cell
phones on the floor of the shop, but not Pierce. ECF No. 202, attach.2, Ex. 26.
28. -"oyner

Joyner was a welder who was supervised by Daniel Clark, an African-American. Clark
would regularly break up Joyner and other black workers who were on their break, but not do the
same to white workers. Joyner worked first for supervisor Ruel Scott, who refused to
acknowledge him but would strike up conversations with white workers. Scott would assign
welding jobs to white workers before black workers, resulting in Joyner and other black workers
often being assigned merely to sweep. Joyner was then supervised by Donald Harwick, who
would refer to Joyner and another black worker as “boy,” wore clothing with the Confederate
flag, and once tied a string about as thick as a microphone cord into a noose and swung it around
in front of Joyner and two other black workers while laughing. Joyner did not report these
events because he feared for his job. Joyner weekly observed Confederate flags on vehicles,
shirts and hats. ECF No. 202, attach. 1, Ex. 19.
29 - Stewart

Stewart was a welder who was supervised by Angle. Steward heard a white co-worker
used racially offensive language with other black workers every week, saw a white worker wear
the “Redneck Fishing” tee shirt, and observed Confederate flags on boxes, cars and hats. Stewart
complained to Supervisor Angle about what he perceived as racial discrimination, but nothing

was done about it. After suit was filed, Stewart saw a noose hanging in the workplace. ECF No.

202, attach. 2, Ex. 31.

30. -Waddell, Jr.
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